
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ex rel. )
BOBBY GARRISON AND )
RUDOLFO GAONA, JR.                              )

)
Plaintiffs, )

)
v. ) CIVIL ACTION NO. H-07-1018

)                           
CROWN ROOFING SERVICES, INC., )
USS ENGINEERING, LLC, and )
JAMEEL HATTAB,          )
                  )            

)  
Defendants. )       

____________________________________)

COMPLAINT OF THE UNITED STATES

The United States of America alleges as follows:

I.  INTRODUCTION

1.  This action seeks relief under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., based

upon false claims and statements that defendants Crown Roofing Services, Inc., USS

Engineering, LLC, and Jameel Hattab presented or made or caused or conspired to present to the

United States.  The false claims and statements were made in connection with the award and

administration of task orders under a Master Contract for roofing work at the NASA Johnson

Space Center.  The action also seeks damages for violation of the Anti-Kickback Act, 41 U.S.C.

§§ 51-58, and common law claims for breach of contract, unjust enrichment, and payment by

mistake.   
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II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345.  The

Court has supplemental jurisdiction to entertain the common law causes of action under 28

U.S.C. § 1367(a).  The Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over the defendants under 31

U.S.C. § 3732(a) and because each of the defendants reside within and/or are doing and/or

previously did business within this District. 

3.  Venue is proper in this District under 31 U.S.C. § 3732 and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)

because the defendants transact or transacted business in this District and a substantial part of the

events giving rise to the above-captioned action occurred in this District. 

III.  PARTIES

4.  Plaintiff is the United States of America.  This action arises from certain transactions

under a Master Contract with the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) an

agency of the United States government.  

5.  The Plaintiff relators, Bobby Garrison and Rudolfo Gaona, are former employees of

Crown who filed a complaint on behalf of the United States in 2007.

6.  Defendant Crown Roofing Services, Inc., (hereinafter “Crown”) is a roofing company

with offices in Texas, Louisiana, and Florida.  Crown’s last known Texas address is 905 West

Archer Road, Baytown. 

7.  Defendant USS Engineering, LLC, (hereinafter “USSE”) is a design and construction

company that operates in Houston, Texas.  USSE’s last known address is 9950 Westpark, Suite

614, Houston, Texas. 
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8.  Defendant Jameel Hattab is the owner and operator of USSE.  At the same time he

owned and operated USSE, Hattab also was employed as a contracting officer’s technical

representative (COTR) at NASA Johnson Space Center in Houston, Texas. 

IV.  FACTS

9.   In 2005, NASA awarded Master Contracts to several prime contractors, including

Crown, for the performance of roofing repairs at NASA’s Johnson Space Center.  The

contractors were expected to submit competing bids for roofing work on task orders issued by

NASA.  

10.  NASA was to choose among the competing bidders using “best value” selection

criteria, i.e., past performance, quality of workmanship, and price.  The task orders were awarded

by the contracting officer.  However, the COTR provided technical input critical to determining

whether award to the contractor was appropriate.   The COTR also monitored the contractor’s

performance and authorized payment for work performed by the contractor. 

11.  In or about 2005, Crown, USSE, and COTRs Jameel Hattab and Larry Shelmire

entered into a scheme to manipulate NASA’s competitive bidding process for their own benefit. 

Crown provided USSE, Hattab’s company, with nearly $400,000 in subcontract work.  Hattab

and Shelmire, both of whom subsequently pled guilty to felony conflict of interest charges, 

performed the subcontract work and split the proceeds.  In return, the two COTRs gave Crown

favorable award recommendations, agreed to modifications and variances for which NASA did

not receive consideration, and authorized payment for work that did not meet specifications. 

12.  Neither Crown, USSE, nor Hattab informed NASA of the conflict of interest among

themselves.  By failing to provide such information to NASA, the defendants knowingly
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misrepresented information essential to the competitive process.  Had NASA known about the

defendants’ conflict of interest, it would not have awarded Crown the task orders or agreed to the

modification and variances or authorized payment for work.

13.  The first task order, NNJ05JH69D/RD, was awarded to Crown on July 15, 2005 for

roofing work on NASA JSC Building 16 valued at $864,483.  Shelmire recommended award of

the task order to Crown.  Thereafter, in November of 2005, Crown gave a subcontract to USSE,

Hattab’s company, to perform quality control work on a contract that Crown had with another

federal agency.  Shelmire subsequently approved a modification to the Building 16 task order

that compensated Crown for unforseen conditions but failed to credit the government for more

than $160,000 in work that Crown failed to perform.  The defendants presented or made or

caused or conspired to present claims for payment to NASA for Building 16 for which Crown

was paid $856,243 by NASA.  The claims are listed in Table 1 of the Appendix to this

Complaint. 

14.  On December 9, 2005, Crown was awarded task orders on NASA JSC Buildings 420

and 422, both under task order number NNJ06JE40D/RD, and 9 North High Bay, under task order

number NNJ06JE39D/RD, despite the fact that Crown was the highest bidder on each task order. 

The total value of the three task orders was approximately $2,875,581.  Again, Shelmire

recommended award of the task orders to Crown.  Thereafter, on December 26, 2005, Crown gave

USSE subcontracts to perform design work on these same NASA buildings totaling nearly

$150,000.  The defendants presented or made or caused or conspired to present claims for

payment to NASA for Buildings 420, 422 and 9 North High Bay for which Crown was paid

$287,913 by NASA.  The claims are listed in Tables 2 and 3 of the Appendix to this Complaint. 
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15.  In late May 2006, Crown was awarded task orders on JSC Buildings 13, task order

number NNJ06JG02D/RD, and 15, task order number NNJ06JG03D, valued at $2,095,269. 

Hataab was the COTR who recommended award of the task orders to Crown.  On May 18, 2006,

Crown awarded a contract in the amount of $195,000 to USSE to renovate Crown’s Baytown

headquarters.   The defendants presented or made or caused or conspired to present claims for

payment to NASA for Buildings 13 and 15 for which Crown was paid $1,218,407 by NASA.  The

claims are listed in Tables 4 and 5 of the Appendix to this Complaint. 

16.  NASA subsequently discovered the conflict of interest and in July 2007, it formally

terminated Crown’s Master Contract for default. Work was suspended on the contracts which

were in various stages of design and construction. 

 17.  Subsequent to the termination for default, NASA discovered that the roofs on which 

Crown had performed repair work performed poorly during rains storms.  Consequently, a full

inspection of Crown’s work was conducted.  The inspection revealed that the modification to

Building 16, sought by Crown and recommended by Shelmire, resulted in a lesser quality roof

than was required by the original specifications. 

18.  The inspection also found that as a result of a variance initiated by Crown and

recommended by Hattab, the roofs on Buildings 13 and 15 had a severe slope creating the danger

that they would fill with water in this hurricane-prone area and cause undue stress on the

buildings.  As a result, NASA was forced to dismantle the roofs and re-procure the projects at a

cost of approximately $3.5 million. 

19.  NASA also discovered that the roofing designs Crown provided (which were prepared

by USSE) for Buildings 420, 422, and 9 North High Bay were deficient.  NASA paid to obtain
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new roofing designs and secured a new contractor to re-roof the buildings. 

20.  The full extent of NASA’s damages are not completely known because additional

defects may be discovered over time.

V. CLAIMS

Count I

(False Claims Act , 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1))

21.   By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-20, Crown, USSE, and Hattab

knowingly presented or caused to be presented to an officer or employee of the United States

government, false or fraudulent claims for payment or approval: Crown's claims for payment

under the task orders for Buildings 16, 13, 15, 420, 422, and 9 North High Bay.

22.  As a result of the above-referenced conduct, defendants Crown, USSE, and Hattab

violated the False Claims Act 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) and damaged the United States in an amount

to be proven at trial.

Count II

(False Claims Act , 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B))

23.   By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-20, defendants Crown, USSE, and

Hattab knowingly made or used or caused to be made or used false records or statements material

to Crown’s false or fraudulent claims for payment or approval: Crown's claims for payment under

the task orders for Buildings 16, 13, 15, 420, 422, and 9 North High Bay.

24.  As a result of the above-referenced conduct, defendants Crown, USSE, and Hattab

violated the False Claims Act 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B) and damaged the United States in an

amount to be proven at trial.
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Count III

(False Claims Act , 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3))

25.   By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-20, Crown, USSE, and Hattab

conspired to defraud the Government by getting false or fraudulent claims paid or allowed:

Crown's claims for payment under the task orders for Buildings 16, 13, 15, 420, 422, and 9 North

High Bay.

26.  As a result of the above-referenced conduct, defendants Crown, USSE, and Hattab

violated the False Claims Act 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3) and damaged the United States in an amount

to be proven at trial.

Count IV - Crown

(Anti-kickback Act,  41 U.S.C. § 53(1))

27.  By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-20, Crown provided, attempted to

provide, or offered to provide kickbacks: Crown provided subcontracts, to USSE, a subcontractor,

and Hattab, a subcontractor and NASA COTR, for the purpose of improperly obtaining or

rewarding favorable treatment in connection with a prime contract

28.  As a result of the above-referenced conduct, defendant Crown violated the Anti-

kickback Act, 41 U.S.C. § 53(1), and damaged the United States in an amount to be proven at

trial. 

Count V - USSE and Hattab 

(Anti-kickback Act,  41 U.S.C. § 53(2))

29.  By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-20, USSE and Hattab solicited,

accepted, or attempted to accept a kickback.  USSE, a subcontractor, and Hattab, a subcontractor
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and a NASA COTR, accepted subcontracts from Crown as an inducement or reward for favorable

treatment in connection with a prime contract.

30.  As a result of the above-referenced conduct, defendants USSE and Hattab violated the

Anti-kickback Act, 41 U.S.C. § 53(2), and damaged the United States in an amount to be proven

at trial. 

Count VI

(Common-law Fraud)

31.  By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-20,  Crown, USSE, and Hattab

knowingly misrepresented information material to the contracting process: that there was a

conflict of interest amongst them, the United States reasonably relied upon the material

misrepresentation, and the United States suffered substantial damages as a result of its reliance. 

Count VII - Crown

(Breach of Contract)

32.  By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1- 20, defendant Crown breached its

duty to perform in accordance with the terms of its Master Contract with NASA entitling the

United States to recover all consequential damages caused by the breach. 

Count VIII

(Unjust Enrichment)

33.  By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-20, Crown, USSE, and Hattab were

unjustly enriched at the expense of the United States, and in equity and good conscience, the

money should be returned to the United States.
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Count IX

(Payment by Mistake)

32.  By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-20, the United States made payments

to Crown, and consequently to USSE and Hattab, by mistake.  As a result of these payments by

mistake, the United States has sustained damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

Demand for Judgment for Relief

Wherefore, Plaintiff, the United States, demands judgment against defendants Crown,

USSE, and Hattab as follows:

A.  Under Counts I, II, and III (False Claims Act), damages the United States has

sustained, including investigative costs, plus civil penalties as are allowable by law; and

B.  Under Counts IV and V (Anti-kickback Act), a penalty equal to twice the amount of

the kickback; and

C.  Under Count VI (Breach of Contract), all consequential damages incurred by the

United States; and

D.  Under Count VII (Unjust Enrichment), a sum equal to the amount by which defendants

Crown, USSE, and Hattab were unjustly enriched, plus interest; and

D.  Under Count VIII (Payment by Mistake), a sum equal to the amount of payments made

by the United States to Crown, and consequently to USSE and Hattab, by mistake, plus interest;

and/or

E.  Such other relief as this Court may deem just and proper, together with interests and

costs of this action.
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Respectfully submitted,

TONY WEST
Assistant Attorney General

 TIM JOHNSON
United States Attorney

___/s/ Jose Vela_________
JOSE VELA
Assistant United States Attorney
Attorney in Charge
Fed ID# 25492
Texas State Bar No. 24040072
P.O. Box 61129
Houston, Texas 77208
713.567.9000
713.718.3303 (fax)

___/s/ Andrea J. Larry________
JOYCE R. BRANDA
ALAN E. KLEINBURD
ANDREA J. LARRY
(202) 307-0396
U.S. Department of Justice
Commercial Litigation Branch
Civil Division
P.O. Box 261
Benjamin Franklin Station
Washington, D.C. 20044

Attorneys for the United States of America

DATED: November 12, 2009
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APPENDIX

Table 1
Building 16

Date Invoice # Disbursement

9/9/05 1 $19,000

3/6/06 2 294,561

3/21/06 3 62,977

4/10/06 4 23,403

7/12/06 5 212,720

9/21/06 6 167,132

9/28/06 7 72,538.62

12/4/06 8 $3,911.76

Total Paid $856,243.38

Table 2 
Buildings 420 and 422

Date Invoice # Disbursement

3/10/06 HO5616-01 23,578.80

3/10/06 HO5617-01 19,021.80

4/4/06 H05616-01 23,578.80

4/4/06 HO5617-01 19,021.80

6/9/06 H05616-03 23,578.80

6/19/06 H05617-03 19,021.80

8/2/06 H05617-04 6,340.60

8/2/06 H05616-04 7,859.60

Total Paid $142,002
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Table 3
Building 9 North High Bay

Date Invoice # Disbursement

9/28/06 HO5615-05A $33,272

2/15/07 HO5615-06 26,617.60

3/20/07 HO5615-07 6654.40

6/15/07 H07659-1 79,367

Total Paid $145,908

Table 4
Building 13

Date Invoice # Disbursement

8/22/06 H06629-1 $22,206

12/4/06 2 137,240.50

4/4/07 3 41,411.61

5/10/07 4 204,834

6/15/07 5 165,801

Total Paid $571,493.11
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Table 5
Building 15

Date Invoice # Disbursement

8/24/06 1 $30,929

12/04/06 2 402,997

3/29/07 3 111,462

5/16/07 4 101,526

Total Paid $646,914
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